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(Form 10-900a), Type all entrles,

1. Name of Property

historlc name (Former) East White Qak School

other names/site number Fast White Qak Community Center

2. Location

street & number 1801 Tenth Street

N/B

not for publlcation

clty, town Greensboro

=

N/

viclnity

state North Carolina code NC county Gullford

code 081

zlp code 27405

3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
X] private X] building(s) Contributing Noncontributing”
[ ] public-local [ Jdistrict 1 0 buildings
(] public-State [ Jsite 0 0 sites
D public-Federal [:] structure 0 0 structures

[ ]object 0 O objects

1 0 Total

Name of related multiple property listing: Historic and Architectural nymber of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

Resources of Greensboro, North Carolina, 1880-1941

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
[X] nomination ] request for determination of eligibility mesets the documentation standards for registering properties in the

National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60,
See continuation shast,

In m){xsnp)ffﬂ)n th eﬂ @ ots [_ldoes not meet the National Register criterla.
L,('QMA nm\» : 2°2%-92
Slgnature of certitying oﬂlclal ! V Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [:! meets [_]does not meet the National Register criterla. [ see continuation shest.

Signature of commenting or other official

Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification

I, hereby, certify that this propenrty is:
Dentered in the National Register.

DSee continuation sheet.
Ddetermined eligible for the National

Register. DSee continuation sheet.
Ddetermined not eligible for the

National Register.

Dremoved from the National Register.
Dolher, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper

Date of Action




_dJnctlon or Use

foric Functions (enter categories from instructions)
.ducation/school

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Social/civic

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Colonial Revival

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation __ Prick

walls weatherboard

roof _aSphalt

other __Wood

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

@See continuation sheet
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Street. Its original landscaping is not known. The ©present trees
were planted in the 1980s. The surrounding neighborhocd has changed
dramatically. To the east of the school are small one-story houses
built in the late 1950s. Modern trailers are arranged in rows to 1its
south. To its other +two sides, new one-story houses, fronting newly
graded and paved streets, are under construction.

The interior of the school initially had two classrooms at the
front divided by a narrow hallway that led to +the rear ell. The
partitions of this hallway have been removed and some smaller rooms
have been partitioned off at the west. By +the 1930s an auditorium
that sometimes doubled as a classroom occupied the rear ell and the

east addition. An additional classrocom was located in the west
addition (personal communications with Julia Gant Duke and John W.
Gant, who attended the school in +the 1930s, July 8, 1991). The
classroom is still dintact, retaining 1its blackboard, but the
auditorium has been divided into smaller rooms, including a kitchen,

and cloakrooms have been converted into bathrooms. At the rear rooms
a few original six-panel doors with transoms above are still in place.
A 1916 photograph of the 1interior of the school pictures horizontal
and vertical beaded wallboards. These have Dbeen replaced by
plasterboard. Although always simply finished, the interior of the
school has been compromised by 1ts many changes.



8. Statement of Significance

~ Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[:] nationally [ Istatewide [F_CJ locally
Applicable National Ragister Criteria [ NA [ B [_.c []D
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) DA D B D C E] o [ JE D F D G

Areas of Significance (enter categories fram instructions) Period of Significance
Education 1916-1941

Ethnic Heritage: Black

Siglnificant Dates
916

Cultural Affiliation’
N/A

-Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A . A . Unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

@ See continuation sheet
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East White Oak, which included the former East White 0Oak 8chool
(Sanborn Map Company, 1919 and 192%).

The school building was constructed in 1916, at which time the
village of East White Qak--the only village Dbuilt for +the black
employees of +the Proximity Manufacturing Company--was also probably
erected. The village consisted of about seventy frame, one- and one-
and-a-half-story, rectangular or L-shaped houses, two churches, and
the East White Oak school. The buildings were symmetrically placed on
a grid of streets four blocks long and one or one-and-a-half blocks
wide (Sanborn Map Company 1919; personal communications with Julia
Gant Duke and John W. Gant, July 8, 19981).

According to the final teacher’s report of 1916-13917, the school
had eighty-seven students 1its first vyear. Sixty-eight were in the
first grade, ten in the second, six 1in the third, two in the fourth,
and one in the fifth ("Teacher’s Final Report" May 18, 1917). A
photograph from the first year, in the collection of the Cone Mills
Corporation in Greensboro, pictures children’s clothing and other
items sewn by the students displayed on an interior wall of the
school. Written across the front is the legend "East White QOak
school, 1816, Mrs. C.J. Jordan, Mrs. N.G. Washington--Teachers." Mrs.
Jordan was the principal, for which she was paid $40 a month for the
eight-month term. Her assistant, Mrs. Nannie G. Washington, earned
$35 a month ("Teacher’s Final Report” May 18, 1817).

The school initially had eighty-four store-bought, rather than
homemade, desks. t+ had no garden, baseball diamond, tennis court, or
basketball court, but it did have a piano. Cooking and sewing and
"some simple hand crafts for boys," such as mat and basket making,
were taught. Agriculture was also taught, from a bock ("Teacher’s
Final Report" May 18, 18175 . The school lacked books other than
textbooks. In her third year-end report, Principal Jordan, responding
to the question of what the school’s most pressing needs were, wrote:
"We are in need of a library. A supplementary library would be of
great value as a means of securing the general information on the
texts studied. So little or no such information can be secured in the
inal

\
4
B
2

homes" ("Teacher’s n Report” May 30, 1919). More than books were
lacking from the homes of the students. In Novemper, 1916, two
students had excused absences, one or three days and the other of ten,
because of "insufficient clothing.' Another pupil, a boy of nine, had

an excused absence because he had to work ("Teacher’s Monthly Report
to Attendance Officer and County Superintendent” MNovember 24, 1916).
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As the Proximity Manufacturing Company’s only black mill
village, East White Oak provided laborers not only to the White Oak
Mill, but also to the Revolution and Proximity Mills and the Proximity
Print Works. The East White O0Oak school, therefore, educated the
children of all of the company’s black work force. These children
came from homes where the fathers toiled at unskilled jobs and the
mothers tended house (White Oak Villages 1932 Census).

Although they had previously made up a significant percentage of
the city’s skilled work force, by the +turn of +the century black
workers had been ejected or barred from skilled positions in all of
the c¢ity’s mills and factories (Kipp 1974:239). A Proximity
Manufacturing Company publication of 1925 indicates the low position
of blacks within the company work force and the stereotypical views
held of them:

Cotton always calls +to mind +the Southern negro, and though he
does only common labor in the mills, he is the starter of the
job. He breaks the cotton bale and feeds the contents into the
first machine, and what he has to do, he does with a rag-time
song and a merry grin (Balliett 1925).

The inhabitants of East White Oak, according to a company census of
1932, did indeed hold unskilled positions. Those on Gordon and 11lth
streets, who worked in +the White Oak Mill, were primarily employed in
the opening room, the yard, the boiler room, the dye house, or as
janitors. Most of the employees on Water and 10th streets, who worked
at the company’s other plants, held similar positions or worked in the
Revolution Dbarns. The women XkXept house. In 1932 all of their
children between the ages of six and fifteen, and a few older children
as well, attencea the school (White Oak Villages 1832 Census).

In 19223, when city limits were expanded to encompass East White
Oak and the other mill villages, the Proximity Manurfacturing Company
retained control of 1its schools, in which it +took great pride.
According to the company, 1its teachers were paid more than county
teachers and an illiteracy rate of from thirty to forty percent had
been reduced <to less than one percent through the efforts of 1ts
schools. In 1825 there were 1,511 children, taught by forty-three
teachers, attending the company’s four schools--White QOak, East White
Dak, Proximity. and Proximity Kindergarten, At Zast White Oak the
enrollment had zrown +to 123 and a third teacher had been added
(Balliett 1892%:.
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The East White Oak school building was not equal to the large,
fine, brick schools provided by the company in the 1920s and 1930s for

children of its white employees. Its services, however, were
equivalent to those provided for black children by the city school
system. The city did not provide an accredited high school program

for blacks until 1926 and there was no black city high school until
1929, when Dudley High School was opened (Greensboro Record, January 9

and January 10, 1947).

The school was closer in size and style to the many small schools
constructed throughout the city and the county in the late nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries. Its frame construction, modest size,
and Colonial Revival finish was equivalent to that of many of its
contemporaries (Guilford County Board of School Improvement 1905).
However, in the 1920s the small city and county schools were replaced
by large, brick buildings and East White Oak is the only small early
twentieth-century school building surviving in the city (Greensboro
Record, November 18, 1940).

The schools of the Cone Mills villages were finally brought into
the city school system in 1946. The school Dboard decided not to
retain the REast White Oak school, but rather to consolidate it with
the black Jonesboro school near North Carolina A & T. This was done
because the East White Oak school was privately owned and only had
three teachers. The Jonesboro school, a c¢city school, had four
teachers and eight classrocoms. When its enrollment was 1increased by
the students transported to it from East W%White Oak, Jonesboro was
turned into an accredited school (Greensboro Record, February 21,
1846). After it ceased to function as a school, East White 0Oak was
converted into a black "MCA by the company (personal communications
with Julia Gant Duke and John W. Gant, July 8, 1991; Carolina

2

Peacemaker, January 31, 1976).

In 1955, when +the Cone Mills Corporation sold the village to
Hillside Homes, Inc., +the community looked much the same as it had
when it was built (Sanborn Map Company 1925, 1925 corrected through
1833, and 1825 corrected through 1857; Guilford County Deed Book 1811,
Page 298, personal communications with Julia Gant Duke and John W.

Gant, July 8, 1881). In the next twenty-ive years many of 1ts houses
were removed. About 1881 its remaining original houses were
demolished (personal communications with Julia Gant Duke and John W.

Gant, July 3, 19381).
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Unlike the rest of the village, the school building was saved.
It was still a YMCA in 1955 when the neighborhood desired to retain
the structure as a community center. In 1956 +they formed East White
Oak Community Center, Inc. and purchased the building (Guilford County
Deed 1611, Page 298, and Deed 1671, Page 304). Its preservation and
conversion to a community center was due to the efforts of the local
residents, led by Truman Gant, who had come to East White Oak around
1922, at the age of seventeen, to work in +the mills (personal
communications with Julia Gant Duke and John W. Gant, July 8, 18891,
Carolina Peacemaker, January 31, 1876). Since 1956, the former East
White Oak School has continued to serve +the neighborhood as a
community center.




9. Major Bibliographical References

Pravious documentstion on flle (NFS);
: [:]preilmlnary determination of indlvidual llsting (38 CFR 87)
. has been requested:

[ Jpreviously listed Ir the Natlonal Reglater

Dpreviously determinad eligibie by the Natlonal Reglster

[ Jdesignated a Natlonal Historic Landmark

[ Jrecorded by Historic American Buildings
Survey #

Dreccrded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

X ses continuetion shest

Primary locatlon of addllonal data:
(X state historlc presarvation offlcs
DOlher State agency

[_IFederal agerncy

[:} Local government

L University

DOther

Specify repository:

'10. Geographical Data
7

Acrezge of property 0.5

UTM References ‘
Al 7 Lelial S 90 13,:919,506:6,0]
. Zone  Easting: Northing

O B O O T B B BN R

Ll

o P

I
S O

B L ] LI !
Zone Easting Northing
> ST A I B N I VI B R

__18ae continuation sheat

Verbel Boundary Description

The houndaries of the former East White Oak
Map 256, Block 123, Parcel 2.

School are those of Greensboro Tax

|___|Ses continuation shast

Boundery Justification

The boundaries of the former Zast White Qak
asgocliated with the schoo

School include tha lot historically

|__]See continuation sheet

1. Form Prepared By

Marvin A. Browp

nameftitle ‘ S
organization Creensboro Presermvation Soclety date - Llz-Y1

T - A Yo o - [QEEEEE CH 07 ‘_)‘_»)( ¥
street & number 117 West n Street telaphone 919-2 7. 5003

city or town  Greenshoro -

stateiortilt Carolina  ,ip cods

* U S.GPO.1988-0-223-318

27402



NEB Form 10-800-8 QM8 Approvel Mo, 10240018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

{ Former) East White Oak School

Section number ° Page 1 Greensboro, Guilford Co., NC

Arnett, Ethel Stephens. 1955. Greensboro, North Carolina, the County
Seat of Guilford. Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina

Press.

Balliett, Carl J. 1925. World Leadership in Denims, Through Thirty
Years of Progress. Baltimore: Privately printed by the Thomsen-
Ellis Co. for the Proximity Manufacturing Company. Company
publication located at +the Greensboro Public Library, Caldwell-
Jones Room.

Brewer, R.W. 1913. "Map of the City of Greensboro, North Carolina."”
Greensboro: M.M. Pruden. Located at Guilford County Register of
Deeds, Greensboro.

Carolina Peacemaker. January 31, 1976. Clipping of article entitled
"Truman Gant: A Man Who Helps Others' located at the East White

Oak Community Center.

Chafe, William H. 1980. Civilities and Civil Rights: Greensboro, North
Carolina, and the Black Struggle for Freedom. New York: Oxford
University Press. Located at the Greensboro Public Library,
Caldwell-Jones Room.

Fripp, Gayle Hicks. 1982. Greensboro. A Chosen Center. Woodland Hills,
CA: Windsor Publications. Located at +the Greensboro Public
Library, Caldwell-Jones Room.

Greensboro Record. November 16, 13940. Clipping of article entitled
"Greensboro City Bchools Always Leader” located in the vertical
files of +the Jackson Library, University of North Carolina at
Greensboro.

February 21, 1946. Clipping of article entitled
"Three Schools +to be Put in City District” 1located in the
vertical files of +the Jackson Library, University of North
Carolina at Greensboro.

January 9, 1947. Clipping of article entitled
"First Negro Schools in City" 1located in the vertical files of
the Jackson Library, University of North Carolina at Greensboro.




NP8 Form 10-@00-a OM8 Approved Na. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interlor
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
(Former) East White Oak School

' G boro, Guilford Co., NC
Section number __° Page __ 2 reensboro, Guilford Co

. January 10, 1947. Clipping of article entitled
"Dudley High Has Outstanding Rating Among Negro Schools" located
in the vertical files of the Jackson lerary, University of North
Carolina at Greensboro.

Guilford County Board of School Improvement. [1905] "Progress of
Public Education in Guilford County, North Carolina, 1902-1905."
Greensboro: Chas. G. Harrison Printing Company. Pamphlet located
in the vertical files of the Jackson Library, University of North
Carolina at Grsensboro. .

Guilford County Deed Books. Located at Guilford County Courthouse,
Greensboro, North Caroclina.

Guilford County Plat Books. Located at Guilford County Courthouse,
Greensboro, North Carolina.

Half Century Book, 1891-1941. 1941. Greensboro: Cone Export &
Commission Co. Company publication located at +the Greensboro
Public Library, Caldwell-Jones Room.

Kipp, Samuel Millard III. 1874. "Urban Growth and Social Change in the
South, 1870-13820: Greensboro, North Carolina, as a Case Study."
Ph.D. dissertation, Princeton University. Located at the Jackson

Library, University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Pease Engineering Co. 1927. "Map of the City of Greensboro, North
Carolina, Towns of Hamilton Lakes and Pomona ’'the pivot of the
piedmont.’"” Greensboro: Pease Engineering Co. Located at

Guilford County Register of Deeds, Greensboro.

Personal communication. July 3, 1991. Julia Gant Duke, longtime
resident of East White QOak community.

July 38, 1381. John W. Gant, longtime resident
of East White QOak community.

July 8, 13891. Marilyn Gant, longtime resident
of East White Oak community. ‘




RP8 Form 10-600-a OMB Approvel Na. 10240018

United States Department of the Interlor
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet

(Former) Rast White Oak School
Greensboro, Guilford Co., NC

Section number __° Page ___°
Sanborn Map Company. 1919 and 1925. "Greensboro, North Carolina."”
Microfilm of 1919 and 1925 maps located at the Jackson Library,
University of North Caroclina at Greensboro; originals of two

separate sets of 1925 maps corrected through 1933 and +through
1857 located at Greensboro Historical Museum.

"Teacher’s Final Report." May 30, 1919. Report for October 2, 1916 -
May 18, 1917 school year located in Bernard M. Cone files at Cone
Mill Corporation archives in Greensboro.

May 30, 1919. Report for September 2, 1918 -
May 30, 1919 school vear located in Bernard M. Cone files at Cone
Mill Corporation archives in Greensboro.

"Teacher’s Monthly Report to Attendance Officer and County
Superintendent." November 24, 1916. Located in Bernard M. Cone
files at Cone Mill Corporation archives in Greensboro.

White Oak Village 1932 Census. Photocopy of typewritten census 1in
files of Cone Mills Corporation, Greensboro.
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